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because the plaintiff has presented no evi-
dence that the favoritism shown to Mulli-
kin resulted from a discriminatory motive
rather than his unique qualifications for
the position.  See Pl.’s Opp’n at 14–18.
Thus, even if the court were to draw the
adverse inference suggested by the plain-
tiff, it would not alter the court’s determi-
nation absent some evidence of discrimina-
tory intent.  The court will not withhold
summary judgment on these grounds.  See
Chappell–Johnson v. Bair, 574 F.Supp.2d
87, 102 (D.D.C.2008) (noting that ‘‘when all
evidence in the record supports a legiti-
mate, nondiscriminatory reason for her
non-selection, no reasonable jury could
award damages against her employer
based solely on speculation as to what
might be contained in documents not in
evidence ’’).

Similarly, the plaintiff has failed to artic-
ulate how the missing interview notes for
the VA 228 position could have altered the
outcome of this litigation, given that the
plaintiff had already been excluded by the
time these notes were taken and that all
three interview panelists concluded that
Haynes deserved the position.  Cf. id.
(holding that the defendant’s failure to
preserve interview notes did not preclude
summary judgment because it was unrea-
sonable to assume that those interview
notes would have supported the plaintiff’s
claims given that both interviewers testi-
fied that they considered the selectee the
superior candidate).  Furthermore, the de-
fendant has already produced the VA 228
application materials, encompassing the
materials that were before Fluman at the
time he chose not to interview the plaintiff
for that position.  See Pl.’s Opp’n at 42–43.

Thus, the court declines to withhold
summary judgment based on the defen-
dant’s failure to produce the materials
identified by the plaintiff.  See von Muh-
lenbrock v. Billington, 579 F.Supp.2d 39,
45 (D.D.C.2008) (observing that ‘‘destruc-

tion of evidence, standing alone, is [not]
enough to allow a party who has produced
no evidence—or utterly inadequate evi-
dence—in support of a given claim to sur-
vive summary judgment on that claim’’)
(quoting Chappell–Johnson, 574 F.Supp.2d
at 102).  Accordingly, the court concludes
that the plaintiff has not produced suffi-
cient evidence for a reasonable factfinder
to conclude that the defendant’s asserted
non-discriminatory and non-retaliatory
reason for his non-selection was pretext
and the defendant unlawfully discrimi-
nated or retaliated against him.  See Bra-
dy, 520 F.3d at 494.

IV. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, the court

grants the defendant’s motion for sum-
mary judgment.  An Order consistent with
this Memorandum Opinion is separately
and contemporaneously issued this 22nd
day of June, 2009.

,
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(DOI) and the Fish and Wildlife Service
(FWS) violated the Endangered Species
Act (ESA) and the National Environmen-
tal Policy Act (NEPA) by excluding three
species of antelope, when bred in captivity
in the United States, from ESA’s prohibi-
tion on taking, exporting, reimporting, or
selling endangered species, parties cross-
moved for summary judgment.

Holdings:  The District Court, Henry H.
Kennedy, Jr., J., held that:

(1) animal protection organizations had
standing to challenge FWS Rule, and

(2) Rule violated ESA’s notice and review
provision.

Motions granted in part and denied in
part.

1. Administrative Law and Procedure
O811

Summary judgment is the proper
mechanism for deciding, as a matter of
law, whether an agency action is supported
by the administrative record and consis-
tent with the Administrative Procedure
Act (APA) standard of review.  5 U.S.C.A.
§ 551 et seq.

2. Federal Civil Procedure O103.2
As the party invoking federal jurisdic-

tion, plaintiffs bear burden of establishing
the three elements of standing.  U.S.C.A.
Const. Art. 3, § 2, cl. 1.

3. Federal Civil Procedure O103.2, 103.3
In order to establish standing, plain-

tiffs must demonstrate that (1) they have
suffered an injury in fact, that is, an inva-
sion of a legally protected interest which is
(a) concrete and particularized and (b) ac-
tual or imminent, not conjectural or hypo-
thetical, (2) there is a causal connection
between the injury and the challenged con-
duct, meaning that the injury alleged is
fairly traceable to defendant’s challenged
action, and (3) it is likely, as opposed to

merely speculative, that the injury will be
redressed by a favorable decision.
U.S.C.A. Const. Art. 3, § 2, cl. 1.

4. Environmental Law O652

Alleged interest of animal protection
organization’s president in wild antelope
did not provide organization with repre-
sentational standing to challenge Fish and
Wildlife Service (FWS) Rule excepting
U.S. captive-bred members of three endan-
gered antelope species from Endangered
Species Act’s (ESA’s) prohibitions on tak-
ing of those species; any injury suffered by
organization’s president, arising out of the
effect of the poaching of wild antelope on
her alleged plans to view the endangered
antelope species in the wild, was not fairly
traceable to the Rule.  U.S.C.A. Const.
Art. 3, § 2, cl. 1; Endangered Species Act
of 1973, § 9(a), 16 U.S.C.A. § 1538(a).

5. Environmental Law O652

Any aesthetic injury suffered by ani-
mal protection organization’s president as
result of her alleged viewing of captive
members of three endangered antelope
species during visits to three hunting
ranches did not provide organization with
representational standing to challenge
Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS) Rule ex-
cepting U.S. captive-bred members of the
three species from Endangered Species
Act’s (ESA’s) prohibitions on taking of
those species, where she did not declare
that she viewed any of those species on her
first visit and her second visit was made
after organization’s amended complaint
was filed.  U.S.C.A. Const. Art. 3, § 2, cl.
1; Endangered Species Act of 1973, § 9(a),
16 U.S.C.A. § 1538(a).

6. Federal Civil Procedure O103.2

A plaintiff suffers an injury in fact, as
required to establish standing to bring an
action, when the plaintiff fails to obtain
information which must be publicly dis-
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closed pursuant to a statute.  U.S.C.A.
Const. Art. 3, § 2, cl. 1.

7. Federal Civil Procedure O103.2
In determining whether an alleged de-

nial of access to information may consti-
tute an injury in fact, as required to estab-
lish standing to bring an action, the harm
to the plaintiff arising out of the alleged
injury may be widely shared, but it must
be concrete and specific.  U.S.C.A. Const.
Art. 3, § 2, cl. 1.

8. Associations O20(1)
Allegations of injury to an organiza-

tion’s ability to disseminate information
may be deemed sufficiently particular to
demonstrate injury in fact, as required to
establish standing, where that information
is essential to the injured organization’s
activities.  U.S.C.A. Const. Art. 3, § 2, cl.
1.

9. Environmental Law O652
Animal protection organizations had

standing, under notice and review provi-
sion of the Endangered Species Act (ESA),
to challenge Fish and Wildlife Service
(FWS) Rule excepting U.S. captive-bred
members of three endangered antelope
species from ESA’s prohibitions on taking
of those species, based on informational
injuries arising out of alleged elimination
of permit requirements; provision created
a right to the information that was suffi-
cient to support standing, and allegation
that organizations were prevented from
meaningfully participating in the permit
process alleged a concrete injury that
came within the zone of interests protected
by the provision and was actual or immi-
nent.  U.S.C.A. Const. Art. 3, § 2, cl. 1;
Endangered Species Act of 1973, § 10(c),
16 U.S.C.A. § 1539(c).

10. Environmental Law O652
Alleged informational injury to animal

protection organization arising out of al-

leged elimination of permit requirements
did not provide it with organizational
standing to challenge permit and exemp-
tion policy provision of Fish and Wildlife
Service (FWS) Rule excepting U.S. cap-
tive-bred members of three endangered
antelope species from Endangered Species
Act’s (ESA’s) prohibitions on taking of
those species; although provision required
the agency to publish its findings, it did
not create a statutory right to information,
and thus deprivation of that information
did not cause organization of specific, con-
crete, actual and imminent injury.
U.S.C.A. Const. Art. 3, § 2, cl. 1; Endan-
gered Species Act of 1973, § 10(d), 16
U.S.C.A. § 1539(d).

11. Associations O20(1)

A plaintiff suffers an organizational
injury, as would satisfy injury in fact re-
quirement of a standing analysis for an
action alleging a violation by an agency, if
the agency’s alleged violation perceptibly
impairs the organization’s ability to carry
out its activities.  U.S.C.A. Const. Art. 3,
§ 2, cl. 1.

12. Environmental Law O652

Animal protection organizations had
organizational standing, under notice and
review provision of the Endangered Spe-
cies Act (ESA), to challenge Fish and
Wildlife Service (FWS) Rule excepting
U.S. captive-bred members of three endan-
gered antelope species from ESA’s prohi-
bitions on taking of those species; Rule
directly conflicted with organizations’ ac-
tivities and the services they provided to
their members with regard to the status of
captive antelopes and participation in the
notice and review process.  U.S.C.A.
Const. Art. 3, § 2, cl. 1; Endangered Spe-
cies Act of 1973, § 10(c), 16 U.S.C.A.
§ 1539(c).
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13. Environmental Law O652

Allegation that Fish and Wildlife Ser-
vice (FWS) Rule which excepted U.S. cap-
tive-bred members of three endangered
antelope species from Endangered Species
Act’s (ESA’s) prohibitions on taking of
those species, had effect of draining animal
protection organization’s resources, did not
provide organization with organizational
standing under notice and review provision
of the ESA; allegation that reintroduction
of ranch-bred antelope to the wild would
undermine organization’s efforts to ensure
the quality of the species’ genetic makeup,
and that the Rule would increase incen-
tives to poach, were entirely speculative
and did not demonstrate hindering of the
organization’s activities.  U.S.C.A. Const.
Art. 3, § 2, cl. 1; Endangered Species Act
of 1973, § 10(c), 16 U.S.C.A. § 1539(c).

14. Environmental Law O529, 531, 541
Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS) Rule

excepting U.S. captive-bred members of
three endangered antelope species from
Endangered Species Act’s (ESA’s) prohibi-
tions on taking of those species violated
ESA’s notice and review provision by issu-
ing a blanket exception for all persons
breeding the antelope in captivity without
requiring an application and case-by-case
assessment of that application; statute re-
quired case-by-case consideration before
otherwise prohibited acts could be permit-
ted, but the Rule hindered the ability of
individuals and groups to participate in a
meaningful way in the permit procedure.
Endangered Species Act of 1973, § 10(c),
16 U.S.C.A. § 1539(c).

15. Statutes O219(2)
In determining whether an agency’s

interpretation of a statute it administers is
in accordance with the law, a court first
must determine whether Congress has di-
rectly spoken to the precise question at
issue, and if Congress has not directly

spoken, then the court must defer to a
permissible construction of the statute by
the agency.

16. Statutes O190
If a statute’s text is plain and unam-

biguous, the sole function of the courts is
to enforce it according to its terms.

17. Statutes O190
The plainness or ambiguity of statuto-

ry language is determined by reference to
the language itself, the specific context in
which that language is used, and the
broader context of the statute as a whole.

18. Statutes O184, 217.2
If analysis of the statutory language

and its context does not yield a plain
meaning, reviewing court may look to the
statute’s overall purpose and its legislative
history to discern Congress’s intent.

Katherine A. Meyer, William Stewart
Eubanks, II, Meyer Glitzenstein & Crys-
tal, Washington, DC, for Plaintiffs.

John S. Most, Meredith L. Flax, Depart-
ment of Justice, Washington, DC, Rebecca
Riley, Natural Resources Defense Council,
Chicago, IL, for Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

HENRY H. KENNEDY, JR., District
Judge.

In these consolidated cases, two sets of
plaintiffs, Friends of Animals (‘‘FOA’’)
plaintiffs and Rebecca Ann Cary (‘‘Cary’’)
plaintiffs, bring an action against the De-
partment of Interior, the Fish and Wildlife
Service of the Department of Interior, and
officials of these agencies in their official
capacities (collectively, the ‘‘FWS’’).  The
Safari Club International and Exotic Wild-
life Association (collectively, the ‘‘Safari
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Club’’) also intervened as defendants.
Plaintiffs allege that the FWS unlawfully
promulgated a rule under the Endangered
Species Act, 16 U.S.C. §§ 1531, et seq. (the
‘‘ESA,’’ or the ‘‘Act’’) exempting three en-
dangered antelope species, the scimitar-
horned oryx, the addax, and the dama
gazelle (collectively, the ‘‘antelope’’ or the
‘‘antelope species’’), when bred in captivity
in the United States, from the import, take
and other prohibitions contained in the
Act. Plaintiffs assert violations under sev-
eral sections of the ESA and under the
National Environmental Policy Act, 42
U.S.C. §§ 4321, et seq.  (‘‘NEPA’’).  Be-
fore the court are the parties’ cross mo-
tions for summary judgment [## 61, 62,
66, 67 in Civil Action 04–1660 and ## 20,
21, 24, 25 in Civil Action 06–2120].  Upon
consideration of the motions, the opposi-
tions thereto, and the record of these
cases, the court concludes that plaintiffs’
motions should be granted in part and
denied in part and defendants’ motions
should be granted in part and denied in
part.

I. BACKGROUND

A. Statutory Background

The purpose of the ESA is to ‘‘provide a
program for the conservation of [ ] endan-
gered and threatened species.’’  16 U.S.C.
§ 1531(b).  The Act established a national
policy ‘‘that all Federal departments and
agencies shall seek to conserve endan-
gered species and threatened species and
shall utilize their authorities in furtherance
of the purposes of [the Act].’’ Id. § 1531(c).
Section 4 of the ESA directs the FWS to
list species that it determines are endan-
gered or threatened.  Id. § 1533(c).  Once
a species is listed as endangered, it re-
ceives the full protections of the Act.

Section 9 of the ESA contains several
prohibitions with respect to species listed
as endangered, including prohibitions on

importing, exporting, and taking such spe-
cies.  Id. § 1538(a).  ‘‘Taking’’ an endan-
gered species includes harming, harassing,
pursuing, hunting, shooting, wounding,
killing, trapping, capturing, or collecting
such species.  Id. § 1532(19).  Section 10
of the ESA provides three exceptions to
these prohibitions.  Id. § 1539. First, and
most relevant to this case, paragraph
10(a)(1)(A) authorizes the FWS to ‘‘permit
TTT any act otherwise prohibited by [sec-
tion 9] for scientific purposes or to enhance
the propagation or survival of the affected
species, including, but not limited to, acts
necessary for the establishment and main-
tenance of experimental populationsTTTT’’
Id. § 1539(a)(1)(A).  In addition, para-
graph 10(a)(1)(B) authorizes an exception
for takes which are incidental to carrying
out an otherwise lawful activity, id.
§ 1539(a)(1)(B), and section 10(b) author-
izes hardship exemptions in specific cases
where the Act will cause undue economic
hardship, id. § 1539(b).  With respect to
applications for permits or exemptions
made under section 10, the Secretary must
comply with two requirements, contained
in subsections 10(c) and (d), which state:

(c) Notice and Review.  The Secretary
shall publish notice in the Federal Reg-
ister of each application for an exemp-
tion or permit which is made under this
section.  Each notice shall invite the
submission from interested parties,
within thirty days after the date of the
notice, of written data, views, or argu-
ments with respect to the applica-
tionTTTT Information received by the
Secretary as part of any application
shall be available to the public as a
matter of public record at every stage of
the proceeding.

(d) Permit and exemption policy.  The
Secretary may grant exceptions TTT only
if he finds and publishes his finding in
the Federal Register that (1) such ex-
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ceptions were applied for in good faith,
(2) if granted and exercised will not
operate to the disadvantage of such en-
dangered species, and (3) will be consis-
tent with the purposes and policy [of the
Act].

Id. § 1539(c), (d).

B. Factual Background

The antelope species at issue in these
cases are native to the deserts of northern
Africa.  Today, the scimitar-horned oryx is
extinct in the wild, and there are very few
addax or dama gazelle in the wild.  In
1991, the FWS proposed listing the ante-
lope species as endangered.  56 Fed.Reg.
56491–95 (November 5, 1991).  It was not
until 2005, following a lawsuit, however,
that the FWS listed the antelope species
as endangered.  See 70 Fed.Reg. 52319
(Sept. 2, 2005).  In that listing, the FWS
found that the decline of the antelope spe-
cies in their native range was due to habi-
tat loss through desertification, human set-
tlement and competition with livestock,
and regional military activity and uncon-
trolled killing.  Id.

Private ranches in the United States
breed the antelope species in captivity.
Some of these ranches allow sport hunters
to kill antelopes for a fee.  At the same
time that the FWS listed the antelope as
endangered, it also issued a rule (‘‘Rule’’)
under paragraph 10(a)(1)(A) of the Act
excepting United States captive-bred
members of the antelope species from the
take and other prohibitions of section 9 of
the ESA. 70 Fed.Reg. 52310 (Sept. 2,
2005).  The FWS found, ‘‘[b]ased on infor-

mation available to the Service, captive
breeding in the United States has contrib-
uted significantly to the conservation of
these species.’’  Id. at 52315.  The Rule
states that:

any person subject to the jurisdiction of
the United States may take;  export or
reimport;  deliver, receive, carry, trans-
port or ship in interstate or foreign com-
merce, in the course of commercial activ-
ity;  or sell or offer for sale in interstate
or foreign commerce live wildlife, includ-
ing embryos and gametes, and sport
hunted trophies of [the antelope species
under certain circumstances].

Id. at 52318.  These circumstances include:
(1) the purpose of the activity must be
associated with the management or trans-
fer of wildlife in a manner that ‘‘contrib-
utes to increasing or sustaining captive
numbers or to potential reintroduction to
range countries,’’ (2) captive-breeding op-
erations must be managed in a manner
that maintains genetic diversity, and (3)
each person claiming the benefit of the
exception must maintain accurate written
records of activities, including births,
deaths, and transfers and make those rec-
ords accessible to the FWS for inspection.
Id. at 52318–19.  It is this Rule that plain-
tiffs challenge.1

II. ANALYSIS

[1] This case comes before the court
on the parties’ cross motions for summary
judgment.2  The cross motions raise two
principle issues:  first, whether plaintiffs
have standing to bring this lawsuit, and

1. Cary plaintiffs originally filed their action
challenging the Rule in the District Court for
the Northern District of California.  See Cary
v. Hall, 2006 WL 6198319 (November 30,
2006).  That court transferred the case to this
court to consolidate it with the FOA plaintiffs’
case.  Id.

2. Summary judgment is the proper mecha-
nism for deciding, as a matter of law, whether
an agency action is supported by the adminis-
trative record and consistent with the APA
standard of review. Stuttering Found. of Am.
v. Springer, 498 F.Supp.2d 203, 207
(D.D.C.2007)(citing Richards v. INS, 554 F.2d
1173, 1177 & n. 28 (D.C.Cir.1977)).
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second, whether the Rule issued by the
FWS is lawful.

A. Plaintiffs Have Standing to Bring
Their Claim Under Subsection 10(c)
of the ESA.

[2, 3] ‘‘[T]he requirement that a claim-
ant have ‘standing is an essential and un-
changing part of the case-or-controversy
requirement of Article III.’ ’’ Davis v.
FEC, ––– U.S. ––––, 128 S.Ct. 2759, 2768,
171 L.Ed.2d 737 (2008) (quoting Lujan v.
Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560,
112 S.Ct. 2130, 119 L.Ed.2d 351 (1992)).
As the party invoking federal jurisdiction,
plaintiffs bear the burden of establishing
the three elements of standing.  Lujan,
504 U.S. at 560–61, 112 S.Ct. 2130.  First,
plaintiffs must establish that they have
suffered an ‘‘injury in fact.’’  Id. at 560,
112 S.Ct. 2130.  An injury in fact is ‘‘an
invasion of a legally protected interest
which is (a) concrete and particularized
TTT and (b) actual or imminent, not conjec-
tural or hypothetical.’’  Id. (internal quota-
tions omitted).  Second, plaintiffs must es-
tablish that there is a causal connection
between the injury and the challenged con-
duct, meaning that the injury alleged is
‘‘fairly traceable to the challenged action of
the defendant.’’  Id. (internal citations and
quotations omitted).  Third, it must be
‘‘likely,’’ as opposed to ‘‘merely specula-
tive,’’ that the injury will be ‘‘redressed by
a favorable decision.’’  Id. at 561, 112 S.Ct.
2130 (internal citations and quotations
omitted).

Defendants challenge plaintiffs’ standing
to bring this suit.  Plaintiffs assert that
they have standing under several theories.
FOA plaintiffs assert representational
standing on behalf of Priscilla Feral, presi-
dent of FOA, based on her interest in both
the antelope species in the wild and the
antelope species in captivity, to bring
claims under sections 4, 7, and 10 of the

ESA and under NEPA. FOA and Cary
plaintiffs assert organizational standing to
bring claims under section 10 of the ESA
based on an informational injury.  Finally,
FOA plaintiffs assert organizational stand-
ing under sections 4, 7, and 10 of the ESA
and NEPA because the Rule drains their
organizations’ resources.  The court will
address each asserted basis for standing in
turn.

1. Representational Standing Based on
Feral’s Interest in Wild Antelope

FOA plaintiffs argue that Feral has
standing to challenge the Rule because the
Rule injures her aesthetic interest in view-
ing the antelope species in the wild.  They
state that Feral has visited Senegal to
observe wild antelopes, has devoted herself
to the preservation of wild antelopes, and
intends to return to Africa to see them
again.  The Rule is fairly traceable to this
injury, according to FOA plaintiffs, be-
cause it increases the incentive for poach-
ers to kill wild members of the antelope
species by creating a legal market for an-
telope parts and trophies.  FOA plaintiffs
argue that Congress itself established this
chain of causation because the ESA was
enacted specifically to prevent the loss of
listed species, and because the legislative
history indicates a Congressional intention
to eliminate financial incentives to take
endangered species.

The FWS responds that Feral has not
established any of the three required ele-
ments for standing, arguing that she has
no concrete plans to view the antelope
species in the wild and therefore no cogni-
zable injury, and that FOA has provided
no evidence that eliminating the Rule
(which regards captive-bred antelope only)
will have an effect on the poaching of wild
antelope, and therefore has not shown cau-
sation.  Further, the FWS argues that the
ESA does not include specific provisions
regarding the relationship between trade
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in legally taken United States captive-bred
antelopes and poaching of wild antelopes
and therefore Congress has not estab-
lished a chain of causation.  The FWS is
correct.

In Cary, the District Court for the
Northern District of California evaluated a
similar argument made by the Cary plain-
tiffs in that court before the case was
transferred to this court.  Cary v. Hall,
2006 WL 6198320, at *6 (N.D.Cal. Sept. 30,
2006). The Cary court determined that
while plaintiffs may have suffered an
aesthetic injury, the injury was not caused
by the Rule because the Rule does not
authorize the take of wild antelopes or the
importation of wild antelope parts or tro-
phies.  Id. at *6. Plaintiffs’ theory in
Cary—that the Rule sent a signal that
hunting antelope was acceptable and that
this signal would cause hunters to kill wild
antelope—was purely speculative, accord-
ing to the Cary court.  Id. This court finds
the analysis and conclusions of the Cary
court highly persuasive.  FOA attempts to
distinguish its challenge in two ways.
First, it argues that Congress itself estab-
lished causation in this case, an argument
not raised by the Cary plaintiffs, pointing
to two phrases in the legislative history
that state that the Act would make taking
endangered species less profitable.  Sec-
ond, FOA plaintiffs argue that the method
of causation they allege is not that the
Rule sends a signal that hunting these
antelope is acceptable, as the Cary plain-
tiffs contended, but that the creation of a
legal market for captive antelope parts and
trophies will encourage the poaching of
wild antelopes.  The court concludes that
neither of these arguments is persuasive.

The legislative history that FOA points
to comes from the House of Representa-
tives committee report, which states that,
‘‘[t]he threat to animals may arise from a
variety of sources;  principally pollution,

destruction of habitat and the pressures of
trade.’’  H.R. Rep. No 93–412, at 2 (July
27, 1973).  The report then goes on to
state that prior to consideration of the
ESA, most attention had focused on trade
and ‘‘attempt[ed] to enforce legislation de-
signed to reduce or eliminate the financial
incentives to trading in endangered species
of fish and wildlife.’’  Id. FOA also points
to a floor statement by Representative
Sullivan during deliberations on the House
of Representatives bill, in which he states
that a hazard to endangered species arises
from those who would capture or kill them
for pleasure or profit, and that while
‘‘[t]here is no way that the Congress can
make it less pleasurable for a person to
take an animal, [it] can certainly make it
less profitable for them to do so.’’  House
Consideration and Passage of H.R. 37,
with Amendments, at 192 (1973).

None of these statements, however, per-
suades the court that Congress created a
chain of causation between the legal trade
in United States captive-bred antelope and
the poaching of wild antelope abroad.
Plaintiffs point to Animal Welfare Inst. v.
Kreps, 561 F.2d 1002 (D.C.Cir.1977) to
support their argument that Congress cre-
ated a chain of causation in this case.  In
Animal Welfare, the D.C. Circuit conclud-
ed that Congress, in enacting the Marine
Mammal Protection Act (‘‘MMPA’’), estab-
lished as a matter of law the requisite
causal relationship between American im-
porting practices and South African seal-
ing practices.  Id. at 1010.  The court
stated that Congress made a decision that
‘‘denial of import privileges is an effective
method of protecting marine mammals in
other parts of the world.’’  Id. This case is
different because there is no statutory lan-
guage or legislative history to support the
idea that Congress decided, or even con-
sidered, whether permitting trade in spe-
cies bred in captivity in the United States
would create financial incentives for in-
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creased poaching abroad.  While the lan-
guage plaintiffs point to demonstrates that
Congress generally believed that reducing
trade would reduce financial incentives to
take species, Congress also recognized
that in some cases trade might enhance
the propagation or survival of species as
evidenced by the statutory language con-
tained in paragraph 10(a)(1)(A).

[4] Nor do plaintiffs present any evi-
dence that the Rule actually does increase
the financial incentives for taking the ante-
lope species in the wild.  FOA plaintiffs
point to three things to support their argu-
ment that the creation of a legal market in
antelope parts and trophies from antelopes
bred in captivity in the United States will
lead to increased poaching of wild ante-
lope—the FWS’s rule listing the antelope
species as endangered, and the declara-
tions of Tarig Osman and Limia Ibrahim.
What this evidence shows is that illegal
poaching of wild antelopes occurs.  It does
not show that such poaching is fairly trace-
able to the existence of a legal market. See
70 Fed.Reg. at 52,321;  Attach. 2 & 3 to
FOA Pls.’ Mot. Summ. J. By contrast, in
Animal Welfare, there was ‘‘substantial
factual evidence in the record TTT that
South African sealing practices will re-
spond to stricter enforcement of the
MMPA.’’ 561 F.2d at 1010.  The court
finds that FOA plaintiffs do not have
standing on this basis because even if Fer-
al has suffered an injury, she has not
demonstrated that it is fairly traceable to
the Rule.

2. Representational Standing Based on
Feral’s Interest in Captive Antelope

[5] FOA plaintiffs also contend that
Feral has standing based on her interest in
the antelope species in captivity.  FOA
plaintiffs argue that Feral ‘‘suffered aesth-
etic injury as a result of viewing animals in
captivity on hunting ranches’’ as part of
her job as President of FOA. FOA Pls.’
Mot Summ. J. at 38.  Specifically, Feral
declares that she visited three hunting
ranches in 1991 and 2006 to observe their
practices and viewed scimitar-horned oryx
in captivity, as well as numerous pictures
of hunters posing with dead scimitar-
horned oryx, dama gazelle, and addax.
The FWS responds that these visits cannot
support Feral’s claim of injury because
during her visit in 1991 she does not de-
clare that she viewed any of the antelope
species subject to the Rule, and her 2006
visit was in May, several months after
FOA filed its amended complaint.  Fur-
ther, the FWS argues, Feral has not de-
clared any intention to return to any hunt-
ing ranches.  The FWS is correct.3  Feral
cannot establish standing based on an
aesthetic injury suffered from viewing ani-
mals that may or may not have been scimi-
tar-horned oryx, dama gazelle, or addax,
and her May 2006 visit does not qualify
because standing ‘‘depends on the facts as
they exist when the complaint is filed.’’
See Lujan, 504 U.S. at 571 n. 4, 112 S.Ct.
2130 (quoting Newman–Green, Inc. v. Al-
fonzo–Larrain, 490 U.S. 826, 830, 109 S.Ct.

3. The court notes that the FWS’s alternative
argument that Feral does not meet the causa-
tion requirement because the conditions she
complains of existed before the Rule and con-
tinue to exist after the Rule unchanged and so
were not created by the Rule is meritless.
The FWS repeats this argument several times
with respect to plaintiffs’ asserted bases for
standing.  Given the listing of the antelope
species as endangered, it is the Rule that

allows the activity that plaintiffs argue is un-
lawful.  See Animal Legal Def. Fund, Inc. v.
Glickman, 154 F.3d 426, 441 (D.C.Cir.1998)
(‘‘The proper comparison for determining
causation is not between what the agency did
and the status quo before the agency acted.
Rather, the proper comparison is between
what the agency did and what the plaintiffs
allege the agency should have done under the
statute.’’).
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2218, 104 L.Ed.2d 893 (1989)).4

3. Organizational Standing Based
on an Informational Injury

Both FOA and Cary plaintiffs assert
organizational standing to challenge al-
leged violations of subsections 10(c) and
10(d) of the ESA based on an information-
al injury.  They argue that these subsec-
tions grant a statutory right to information
regarding each permit.  The Rule, accord-
ing to plaintiffs, eliminates these permit
requirements and so deprives them of
their statutory right to that information.
The FWS responds that plaintiffs need to
do more than assert a statutory right to
information, but must also demonstrate a
concrete harm to a particular organization-
al interest.  Instead, according to the
FWS, plaintiffs assert only a generally
available grievance about the government.
The FWS argues that the only particular-
ized interest plaintiffs allege is a drain on
their resources to educate the public and
obtain information from other sources, and
that plaintiffs lack the requisite specificity
in their declarations to demonstrate this
injury.  The Safari Club further argues
that a wealth of information was provided
to plaintiffs through the promulgation of
the Rule and that the information plaintiffs
seek is available on the Internet.  Plain-
tiffs are correct with respect to standing
under subsection 10(c) and incorrect with
respect to standing under subsection 10(d).

[6–8] A plaintiff ‘‘suffers an ‘injury in
fact’ when the plaintiff fails to obtain in-
formation which must be publicly disclosed
pursuant to a statute.’’  FEC v. Akins, 524
U.S. 11, 21, 118 S.Ct. 1777, 141 L.Ed.2d 10

(1998);  see Ethyl Corp. v. EPA, 306 F.3d
1144, 1148 (D.C.Cir.2002) (‘‘a denial of ac-
cess to information can work an ‘injury in
fact’ for standing purposes, at least where
a statute (on the claimant’s reading) re-
quires that the information ‘be publicly
disclosed’ and there ‘is no reason to doubt
their claim that the information would
help them’ ’’ (quoting Akins, 524 U.S. at
21, 118 S.Ct. 1777)).  The harm to a plain-
tiff may be widely shared, but must be
concrete and specific.  Akins, 524 U.S. at
25, 118 S.Ct. 1777.  ‘‘Allegations of injury
to an organization’s ability to disseminate
information may be deemed sufficiently
particular for standing purposes where
that information is essential to the injured
organization’s activities.’’  Competitive
Enter. Inst. v. Nat’l Highway Traffic
Safety Admin., 901 F.2d 107, 122
(D.C.Cir.1990).

[9] The Cary court ruled, at the mo-
tion to dismiss stage, that Cary plaintiffs
had standing to challenge the Rule under
subsection 10(c) of the ESA based on an
informational injury.  Cary, 2006 WL
6198320, at *11.  That court found that
subsection 10(c) of the Act creates a right
to information sufficient to support stand-
ing, and that ‘‘[b]y alleging that the chal-
lenged regulation effectively denies
[plaintiff] information required to be
made publicly available under § 10(c) so
that [plaintiff] can meaningfully partici-
pate in the § 10 permit process, [plain-
tiff] has alleged a concrete injury that
comes within the zone of interests pro-
tected by § 10(c).’’  Id. at *10.  The
Cary court held that the injury was actu-

4. In reply, FOA plaintiffs argue that Feral is
also injured because her job includes re-
searching and studying current antelope re-
covery efforts and thus conducting Internet
searches, which inevitably lead to graphic pic-
tures of endangered antelope trophies and
hunting advertisements.  The immediate

problem with this argument is that Feral’s
declaration does not support it.  While FOA
plaintiffs cite paragraph 16 of her declaration
to support its argument, this paragraph does
not contain any statements about her Internet
searches.  See Attach. 1 to FOA Pls.’ Mot.
Summ. J. at ¶ 17.
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al or imminent because plaintiffs regular-
ly comment on section 10 permits, and
‘‘[c]ausation and redressability are clear.’’
Id. This court concludes that the Cary
court’s analysis is highly persuasive and
adopts that court’s reasoning in full.

The FWS argues that the circumstances
here are different than those in Cary be-
cause the FWS has filed a motion for
summary judgment, not a motion to dis-
miss.  The FWS is correct that at the
summary judgment stage the burden is
greater on plaintiffs to demonstrate that
the injury they allege is concrete, specific,
actual and imminent.  The court finds that
plaintiffs have done so with respect to
their alleged injury under subsection 10(c).
Plaintiffs suffer an informational injury
that is specific and concrete because they
regularly use information from the section
10 permitting process to participate in the
subsection 10(c) process and to inform
their members.  See Cary Pls.’ Mot.
Summ. J. Ex. G ¶ 17 (declaration of An-
drew Page of the Humane Society of the
United States, stating ‘‘[W]e rely heavily
on the information required by the section
10 process.  Not only do we use this infor-
mation TTT to comment on the permit ap-
plications, but also we use the information
to prepare articles and reports, inform our
members, and document examples for use
in lobbying and other advocacy work’’);
Ex. L ¶ 10 (declaration of Nina Fascione of
Defenders of Wildlife stating, ‘‘We also
rely on the information that we obtain and
the public process provided under section
10 of the ESA to send out action alerts to
our members, update our website, write
stories for our newsletter, compile detailed

reports, and work with the news media’’).
The injury is actual and imminent because
plaintiffs regularly participate in and com-
ment during the subsection 10(c) process.
See id. Ex. G ¶ 14 (declaration of Page
stating, ‘‘[s]taff working on our hunting
abuse campaign regularly monitor the
Federal Register for notices of proposals
to kill endangered species at captive hunt-
ing facilities,’’ and ‘‘submit comments to
the the FWS’’);  Ex. L ¶ 10 (declaration of
Fascione stating, ‘‘Defenders routinely re-
quests section 10 application materials,
comments on permit applications, and re-
views and sometimes brings legal chal-
lenges to FWS’s decisions to issue per-
mitsTTTT’’).

The Cary court did not reach the ques-
tion of whether plaintiffs also sustained an
informational injury that conferred stand-
ing to challenge the Rule under subsection
10(d) of the ESA.5 Plaintiffs argue that
they do because the ‘‘findings’’ required by
subsection 10(d) are integral to the section
10 process.  Subsection 10(d) states that
exceptions may only be granted if the
FWS ‘‘finds and publishes [its] finding in
the Federal Register that (1) such excep-
tions were applied for in good faith, (2) if
granted and exercised will not operate to
the disadvantage of such endangered spe-
cies, and (3) will be consistent with the
purposes and policy’’ of the Act. 16 U.S.C.
§ 1539(d).  Such findings, plaintiffs con-
tend, provide interested persons with im-
portant information that they would not
otherwise be able to obtain.  Without the
opportunity to learn that the FWS issued a
permit and the bases for the permit, ac-
cording to plaintiffs, plaintiffs cannot ask

5. The Cary court ‘‘observe[d], however, that it
is doubtful whether the findings required to
be published under § 10(d) are essential to
make public participation in the § 10 permit
process meaningful.’’  Cary, 2006 WL
6198320, at *11.  That court stated that, ‘‘[i]n
the absence of a specific provision authoriz-

ing suit for violations of § 10(d) or a zone of
interests narrower than a general interest in
agency compliance with statutory require-
ments, it is unclear whether the informational
interests ostensibly protected by § 10(d) are
sufficient to support constitutional, prudential
and statutory standing.’’  Id.
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the agency to reconsider its position or
challenge a permit in court.  The FWS
rejoins that plaintiffs inappropriately make
a public policy argument, and point out
that constitutional standing is not subject
to public policy considerations.  The FWS
is correct.

[10] The question before the court is
whether subsection 10(d), like subsection
10(c) creates a statutory right to informa-
tion deprivation of which causes plaintiffs a
specific, concrete, actual and imminent in-
jury.  The court concludes that it does not.
Subsection 10(c) of the ESA creates an
explicit statutory right to information.  See
16 U.S.C. § 1539(c) (‘‘Information received
by the Secretary as a part of any applica-
tion shall be available to the public as a
matter of public record at every stage of
the proceeding.’’).  Subsection 10(d), by
contrast, requires the Secretary to make
certain findings.  See id. § 1539(d) (‘‘The
Secretary may grant exceptions TTT only if
he finds and publishes his finding in the
Federal Register thatTTTT’’).  While, to be
sure, subsection 10(d) requires the Secre-
tary to publish her findings, this is differ-
ent from the subsection 10(c) requirement
that information be made available to the
public.  Importantly, the information pro-
vided in subsection 10(c) is necessary for
plaintiffs to meaningfully participate in the
section 10 process, and therefore depriva-
tion of that information causes a specific,
concrete, actual and imminent injury.  By
contrast, the findings in subsection 10(d)
are published at the conclusion of the sec-
tion 10 process following the mandated
public process.  While plaintiffs argue that
such findings are necessary for them to
ask the FWS to reconsider its decision or
to challenge the FWS’s decision in court,
this is not an injury to their ability to
participate in the section 10 process, but
instead reveals a more general interest in
the law being followed.  See Judicial

Watch, Inc. v. FEC, 180 F.3d 277, 278
(D.C.Cir.1999) (holding that an injury
amounting to ‘‘no more than a generalized
interest in the enforcement of the law’’
does not support standing) (internal quota-
tion omitted).  The court concludes that
plaintiffs have suffered an informational
injury which confers standing to challenge
the Rule under subsection 10(c) of the Act.

4. Organizational Standing
on Other Bases

[11] Cary and FOA plaintiffs also con-
tend that they suffer organizational inju-
ries.  A plaintiff suffers an organizational
injury if the alleged violation ‘‘perceptibly
impair[s]’’ its ability to carry out its activi-
ties.  See Havens Realty Corp. v. Cole-
man, 455 U.S. 363, 379, 102 S.Ct. 1114, 71
L.Ed.2d 214 (1982);  see also Nat’l Tax-
payers Union, Inc. v. United States, 68
F.3d 1428, 1433 (D.C.Cir.1995) (holding
that organizational standing is proper
where the challenged conduct has directly
harmed an organization’s ability to provide
services).  Plaintiffs do not have standing,
however, if all the alleged violation does is
set back their organization’s abstract social
interests or frustrate its objectives.  See
Nat’l Taxpayers Union, 68 F.3d at 1433
(holding that frustration of an organiza-
tions’ objectives ‘‘is the type of abstract
concern that does not impart standing.’’).

[12] For very similar reasons to those
that support plaintiff’s informational stand-
ing under subsection 10(c), the court con-
cludes that plaintiffs have adequately dem-
onstrated an organizational injury under
that subsection.  Plaintiffs suffer an or-
ganizational injury because the Rule di-
rectly conflicts with their activities and the
services they provide in learning about and
informing the their members of the status
of captive antelopes and participating in
the section 10(c) process.  See id. Ex. L
¶ 17 (declaration of Nina Fascione stating,
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‘‘[a]s a result of the FWS’s regulation,
Defenders has TTT spent resources con-
ducting on-line research, TTT and other-
wise endeavoring to learn about these spe-
cies in the U.S.’’);  Ex. G ¶ 19 (declaration
of Andrew Page of the Humane Society of
the United States stating, ‘‘as a result of
the new regulation, we have had to dedi-
cate additional resources TTT to obtain in-
formation on the sport hunting of these
three Antelope species TTT includ[ing] sub-
mitting requests for information under the
Freedom of Information Act, conducting
research on-lineTTTT’’).

FOA plaintiffs assert more broadly that
they have organizational standing to chal-
lenge the Rule generally (under ESA sec-
tions 4, 7 and 10 and NEPA) because the
Rule drains FOA’s resources.  FOA plain-
tiffs argue that the Rule is at loggerheads
with FOA’s mission, noting that it makes
their efforts to restore the antelope species
in their native ranges more difficult, and
requires them to divert time and resources
away from their mission in order to coun-
teract the Rule. The FWS responds that
FOA plaintiffs must establish a concrete
and demonstrable injury to FOA’s activi-
ties, and not merely a drain on its re-
sources, something the FWS contends
FOA plaintiffs have not done.  The FWS
argues that because the Rule will enhance
the survival of the antelope species, it is
not in conflict with FOA’s mission.

In reply, FOA plaintiffs contend that the
Rule directly conflicts with their activities
in two ways.  First, they state that if
antelopes from hunting ranches are rein-
troduced in the wild, this will undermine
FOA’s efforts to restore the antelope spe-

cies because the Rule does not require any
safeguards to ensure the quality of the
antelope’s genetic makeup.  Second, FOA
argues that the Rule will increase incen-
tives to poach, repeating the arguments it
made in support of Feral’s standing.  FOA
plaintiffs also argue that by allowing the
killing of antelope, the Rule conflicts with
their mission to preserve the antelope spe-
cies.  The FWS rejoins that FOA’s conten-
tions are purely speculative because the
Rule does not authorize or direct reintro-
duction and because FOA plaintiffs do not
present evidence to support their theory
that the Rule will increase poaching in the
wild.  The FWS is correct.

[13] Beyond the deprivation of infor-
mation that hinders plaintiff organizations
in the informational service they provide to
their members and their ability to partici-
pate in the subsection 10(c) process, plain-
tiffs have not demonstrated that the Rule
hinders their activities in any other con-
crete way.  FOA plaintiffs’ argument that
the introduction of an antelope from a
hunting ranch could affect the genetic
makeup of the herds FOA supports in the
antelope species’ native range is entirely
speculative.  Likewise, as explained above,
FOA plaintiffs have not presented any evi-
dence that the Rule increases incentives
for poaching in the antelope species’ native
range.  Finally, FOA plaintiffs’ assertion
that the Rule conflicts with their mission
to preserve antelopes is exactly the type of
abstract social interest or frustration of
purpose that does not support standing.
See Havens Realty Corp., 455 U.S. at 379,
102 S.Ct. 1114.6  Because the court con-

6. FOA plaintiffs vaguely suggest that they
have suffered a procedural injury under sec-
tions 4 and 7 of the ESA and under NEPA.
See Pls.’ Mot. Summ. J. at 41.  While the
causation and redressibility requirements are
relaxed for procedural injuries, see Lujan, 504
U.S. at 572, 112 S.Ct. 2130, they are not

eviscerated.  A plaintiff alleging a procedural
injury must show ‘‘that the government act
performed without the procedure in question
will cause a distinct risk to a particularized
interest.’’  Ctr. for Law & Educ. v. Dep’t of
Educ., 396 F.3d 1152, 1167 (D.C.Cir.2005)
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cludes that plaintiffs have standing only to
pursue their claim that the FWS violated
subsection 10(c) of the Act when it promul-
gated the Rule, the court grants summary
judgment to the FWS on all of the plain-
tiffs’ other claims.  The court now turns to
plaintiffs’ allegations under subsection
10(c).

B. The Rule Violates Subsection 10(c)
of the ESA.

[14] Plaintiffs argue that the FWS vio-
lated subsection 10(c) of the ESA when it
issued a blanket exception for all persons
who breed the antelope species in captivity
in the United States without any require-
ment for an application and case-by-case
assessment of that application.  They ar-
gue that the plain language of subsection
10(c) demands that permits be issued on a
case-by-case basis, pointing to provision
that ‘‘[t]he Secretary shall publish notice in
the Federal Register of each application
for an exemption or permit which is made
under this section.’’  See 16 U.S.C.
§ 1539(c) (emphasis added).  The FWS re-
joins that the plain language dictates just
the opposite and point to the language of
paragraph 10(a)(1), which states that ‘‘[t]he
Secretary may permit TTT any act other-
wise prohibited by section 9 TTT to en-
hance the propagation or survival of the
affected species.’’  See id. § 1539(a)(1)
(emphasis added).  The court concludes
that plaintiffs are correct and that the text,
context, purpose and legislative history of
the statute make clear that Congress in-
tended permits for the enhancement of
propagation or survival of an endangered
species to be issued on a case-by-case basis
following an application and public consid-
eration of that application.

[15] Under the Administrative Proce-
dure Act, a court must set aside agency

actions that are ‘‘arbitrary, capricious, an
abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in
accordance with law;’’ ‘‘contrary to consti-
tutional right, power, privilege, or immuni-
ty;’’ or ‘‘in excess of statutory TTT authori-
ty TTT or short of statutory right.’’  5
U.S.C. § 706(2).  The Supreme Court, in
Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Res. Def.
Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 104 S.Ct. 2778,
81 L.Ed.2d 694 (1984), set forth the appli-
cable methodology for reviewing whether
an agency’s interpretation of a statute it
administers is in accordance with the law.
Under Chevron, the court first must deter-
mine whether Congress has ‘‘directly spo-
ken to the precise question at issue.’’  Id.
at 842, 104 S.Ct. 2778 (‘‘If the intent of
Congress is clear, that is the end of the
matterTTTT’’).  If Congress has not direct-
ly spoken, then the court must defer to a
‘‘permissible’’ construction of the statute
by the agency.  Id. at 843, 104 S.Ct. 2778.

[16–18] To determine whether Con-
gress has directly spoken to the issue un-
der the first step of the Chevron analysis,
the court begins with the statutory lan-
guage.  Chevron, 467 U.S. at 842, 104
S.Ct. 2778.  If the statute’s text is plain
and unambiguous, ‘‘the sole function of the
courts is to enforce it according to its
terms.’’  United States v. Ron Pair En-
ters., 489 U.S. 235, 241, 109 S.Ct. 1026, 103
L.Ed.2d 290 (1989) (internal citations omit-
ted).  The plainness or ambiguity of statu-
tory language ‘‘is determined by reference
to the language itself, the specific context
in which that language is used, and the
broader context of the statute as a whole.’’
Robinson v. Shell Oil Co., 519 U.S. 337,
341, 117 S.Ct. 843, 136 L.Ed.2d 808 (1997).
If analysis of the statutory language and
its context does not yield a plain meaning,
the court may look to the statute’s overall
purpose and its legislative history to dis-
cern Congress’s intent.  See id. at 341, 117

(internal citation omitted).  Plaintiffs here have failed to meet this relaxed requirement.
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S.Ct. 843 (interpreting an ambiguous stat-
utory term in light of the statute’s overall
purpose);  Chevron, 467 U.S. at 845–54, 104
S.Ct. 2778 (discussing at length the legisla-
tive history of the relevant statute after
finding the statute’s text an inadequate
guide as to the meaning of the provision
interpreted by the challenged regulations).

After examining the text, context, pur-
pose and legislative history of section 10,
the court concludes that subsection 10(c)
requires case-by-case consideration before
the FWS may permit otherwise prohibited
acts to enhance the propagation or survival
of endangered species.

1. Text and Context

Plaintiffs argue that the plain language
of subsection 10(c) shows that Congress
intended the FWS to engage in an individ-
ualized permitting process.  They point to
the language of subsection 10(c), which
states that the FWS ‘‘shall publish notice
in the Federal Register of each applica-
tion for an exemption or permit,’’ and that
such notice ‘‘shall invite the submission
from interested parties TTT of written
data, views, or arguments with respect to
the application.’’  See 16 U.S.C. § 1539(c)
(emphasis added).  Under paragraph
10(a)(1)(A), FOA plaintiffs argue, the FWS
may permit specific acts, and under section
subsection 10(c), it must publish notice of
each application for an exemption or per-
mit.  They contend that the use of singular
words such as ‘‘each’’ and ‘‘an’’ denote a
requirement for individualized permits.
Further, plaintiffs note that the title of
subsection 10(a) is ‘‘Permits,’’ suggesting
that Congress contemplated that excep-
tions under subsection 10(a) would be in
the form of permits and not broad regula-
tions.  See id. § 1539(a).  Plaintiffs point
out that the FWS itself has interpreted
paragraph 10(a)(1)(A) to require the sub-
mission of an application for a permit au-
thorizing prohibited activities to enhance

the propagation or survival of endangered
species in its regulations implementing
section 10.

The FWS responds that it complied with
the plain language of subsection 10(c)
when it published a notice in the Federal
Register of its proposal to exempt certain
otherwise prohibited activities with respect
to the antelope species, provided a 60–day
comment period on the proposal, and made
all information received available to the
public.  It argues that plaintiffs cite to
nothing in the plain language of subsection
10(c) that requires the FWS to issue indi-
vidual permits or prohibits it from issuing
a single exemption provided it provides
notice, invites submissions of comments,
and makes publicly available all of the
information received.  The FWS argues
that where Congress intends to require
individual applications, it says so, pointing
to the provisions regarding incidental take
permits and hardship exemptions, which
call specifically for applications.  Para-
graph 10(a)(1), by contrast, does not con-
tain such language, stating instead that the
FWS may permit ‘‘any act otherwise pro-
hibited.’’  The Safari Club makes an addi-
tional plain language argument.  It argues
that by using the phrase ‘‘may permit’’ as
opposed to ‘‘may issue permits’’ in para-
graph 10(a)(1) Congress did not evince an
intent to require a permit-by-permit pro-
cess.  With respect to plaintiffs’ argu-
ments about the FWS’s own interpretation
of paragraph 10(a)(1)(A) in its regulations,
the FWS rejoins that just because it im-
plements section 10 in a particular way
with respect to other species does not
mean that it must use this process to
implement section 10 with respect to all
species.  Plaintiffs have the better argu-
ment.

Subsection 10(c) reads, in part, ‘‘[t]he
Secretary shall publish notice in the Fed-
eral Register of each application for an
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exemption or permit which is made under
this sectionTTTT Information received by
the Secretary as part of any application
shall be available to the publicTTTT’’ 16
U.S.C. § 1539(d) (emphasis added).
Through this language, Congress clearly
contemplated that the FWS would exercise
its authority to grant exceptions under
‘‘this section’’ (i.e., section 10) by respond-
ing to individual applications.  The court’s
plain reading of subsection 10(c) is rein-
forced when that subsection is placed in
context.  The structure of section 10 is
strikingly symmetric.  Subsection 10(a)
authorizes ‘‘Permits.’’  16 U.S.C.
§ 1539(a).  Subsection 10(b) authorizes
‘‘Hardship Exemptions.’’  Id § 1539(b).
Subsections 10(c) and 10(d) then put limits
on the Secretary’s authority to grant such
‘‘Permits’’ and ‘‘Exemptions.’’  See id.
§ 1539(c) (‘‘The Secretary shall publish no-
tice in the Federal Register of each appli-
cation for an exemption or permit which is
made under this section.’’) (emphasis add-
ed);  § 1539(d)(‘‘Permit and Exemption
Policy.—The Secretary may grant excep-
tions under subsections (a)(1)(A) and (b) of
this section only if TTTT’’) (emphasis add-
ed).  The context leads the court to con-
clude that Congress intended two routes
for authorizing exceptions to the prohibi-
tions of section 9:  first, through permits
under subsection 10(a), and second,
through exemptions under subsection
10(b).  It then cabined both of these au-
thorities through subsections 10(c) and
10(d).  Subsection 10(c) specifically con-
templates individual applications.  See id.
§ 1539(c) (‘‘each application’’).  Nowhere
in section 10 does Congress appear to con-
template exceptions through broad regula-

tions.  In fact, paragraph 10(a)(1)(A) ex-
cepts ‘‘any act,’’ in the singular, and not
any category of activities.  See id.
§ 1539(a)(1)(A).

The FWS argues that it complied with
subsection 10(c) by providing notice and
comment on its regulation.  But it is diffi-
cult to see how the FWS could have com-
plied with the plain language of subsection
10(c) without an application for an exemp-
tion or permit before it.7  Instead, the
FWS’s interpretation, holding that no ap-
plication was required, taken to its logical
conclusion would mean that where the
FWS permits an act under paragraph
10(a)(1) through a regulation, it need not
comply with subsection 10(c) at all because
there is no application before it.  No party
argues this.  Indeed, plaintiffs’ natural
reading of section 10 is supported by the
FWS’s own regulations interpreting that
section, which contemplate applications for
permits for activities that enhance the
propagation or survival of endangered spe-
cies.  See 50 C.F.R. § 17.22 (‘‘Upon receipt
of a complete application, the Director may
issue a permit authorizing any activity oth-
erwise prohibited TTT for enhancing the
propagation or survival TTT of endangered
wildlife. Such permits may authorize a sin-
gle transaction, a series of transactions, or
a number of activities over a specific peri-
od of time.’’).

2. Purpose and Legislative History

Plaintiffs argue that the purpose of sub-
section 10(c) further supports reading that
subsection to require individual permit ap-
plications.  They assert that the purpose
of subsection 10(c) is to provide meaningful
public participation and that reading this

7. The Safari Club argues that even if an appli-
cation was required, their comments, and
those of other captive breeding facilities, on
the proposed rule essentially constituted an
application.  They do not argue, however,
that their comments provided all of the infor-

mation that would have been required in an
application.  See 50 C.F.R. § 17.22(a)(1) (list-
ing the requirements of an application for a
permit for the enhancement of propagation or
survival of an endangered species).
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section to authorize broad regulations al-
lowing blanket exemptions thwarts this
purpose.  Plaintiffs cite to Gerber v. Nor-
ton, 294 F.3d 173, 180 (D.C.Cir.2002), in
which the D.C. Circuit held that the FWS
violated subsection 10(c) by not making a
map publicly available, thereby not provid-
ing the public with the meaningful oppor-
tunity to participate that subsection 10(c)
requires.  Under the Rule, by contrast,
plaintiffs assert that they are denied the
opportunity to receive or comment on any
of the information that will be relied on by
a sport hunting ranch to engage in other-
wise prohibited acts with respect to the
antelope species.  Plaintiffs contend that
they cannot even find out which entities
are operating under the new regulation, let
alone receive all of the information that
would be contained in a permit application
under the FWS’s section 10 regulations.
The FWS’s interpretation thus eliminates
any opportunity to monitor whether hunt-
ing ranches actually fulfill the purposes of
the ESA and prevents meaningful opportu-
nity for public comment mandated by the
Act, according to plaintiffs.  The FWS re-
sponds that it provided all the information
required to allow the public a meaningful
opportunity to comment on the exemption
issued in this case through the comment
period on the Rule and thus complied with
the requirements of subsection 10(c).  The
Safari Club adds that the information that
the FWS collected as a result of the notice
and comment opportunity for the Rule
provided plaintiffs with abundant data per-
taining to the status of the antelope spe-
cies.  Plaintiffs have the better argument.

By assertedly complying with subsection
10(c) through publishing a proposed rule,
accepting comment on that proposed rule,
and providing information received in that
process as opposed to through responding
to an individual application, the FWS ab-
stracts the question of whether the excep-
tion will enhance the propagation or sur-

vival of the species from the specific to the
general.  In this way, the FWS avoids
providing the information that would nec-
essarily accompany an application, such as
‘‘a complete description and address of the
institution or other facility where the wild-
life sought to be covered by the permit will
be used, displayed, or maintained,’’ and
‘‘[a] full statement of the reasons why the
applicant is justified in obtaining a permit
including the details of the activities
sought to be authorized by the permit.’’
See 50 C.F.R. § 17.22(a).  This hinders the
ability of individuals and groups to partici-
pate in the meaningful way contemplated
by the ESA because, without this informa-
tion, it is impossible to evaluate whether
each permitted act will enhance the propa-
gation or survival of the species.

The FWS argues that the Rule ensures
that the exception will enhance the propa-
gation or survival of the antelope species
by requiring that those taking advantage
of the exception maintain the antelope spe-
cies in a manner that contributes to in-
creasing or sustaining captive numbers or
to potential reintroduction to range coun-
tries and manage the species in a manner
that maintains genetic diversity.  See 70
Fed.Reg. at 52319.  The information nec-
essary to determine whether those taking
advantage of the exception are actually
doing so, however, need only be main-
tained and made accessible to the FWS for
inspection.  See id.  Thus, plaintiffs are
deprived of the information they would
otherwise be provided to assess whether
individual facilities will or are in fact main-
taining the antelope species in a manner
that contributes to their propagation or
survival and thus are entitled to the excep-
tion. Instead, by requiring such informa-
tion to be available only to the FWS, the
public is shut out.  This flies in the face of
the ‘‘meaningful opportunity’’ that subsec-
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tion 10(c) was intended to provide.  See
Gerber, 294 F.3d at 179.

Plaintiffs further argue that the legisla-
tive history of section 10 reveals a Con-
gressional intent to limit exceptions under
section 10 to individual cases.  According
to plaintiffs, Congress indicated that it in-
cluded subsection 10(d), which requires
certain findings before an exception to the
take prohibitions may be made, in order to
‘‘limit substantially the number of exemp-
tions that may be granted under the act.’’
See H.R. Rep. 93–412, at 17.  Plaintiffs
also point to the Joint Explanatory State-
ment of the Committee of Conference with
respect to the provisions for threatened
species, which states that ‘‘[i]n extreme
circumstances TTT this ‘conservation’ might
include authority for carefully controlled
taking of surplus members of the species.’’
H.R.Rep. No. 93–740, at 3002 (1972) (Conf.
Rep.).  The FWS responds that plaintiffs
fail to explain how issuing a single exemp-
tion is inconsistent with Congress’ state-
ment that the subsection 10(d) require-
ments are intended to limit substantially
the number of exemptions that may be
granted under the Act. Contrary to plain-
tiffs’ assertions, the FWS contends that
the Rule does not allow an unlimited take
of the antelope species, but requires enti-
ties to maintain or increase the numbers of
the species on their properties.

While plaintiffs other arguments are
stronger, the court concludes that the
FWS’s interpretation that it may permit
broad exceptions, as opposed to individual
permits, does appear to be at odds with
this legislative history.  It makes sense
that in order to limit substantially the
number of exemptions that may be grant-
ed, Congress created a process that re-
quires case-by-case review of exceptions,
directing the FWS to provide an opportu-
nity for public comment and make certain
findings.  Blanket exemptions under regu-

lations are anathema to this intention be-
cause they allow the FWS to permit a
great number of exemptions at once with-
out providing the detailed information to
the public that would be required in an
individualized analysis.

The FWS also makes a legislative histo-
ry argument.  It asserts that subsection
10(c) was originally part of subsection
10(b), which authorizes hardship exemp-
tions that were intended to be granted on
an individual basis through applications.
When Congress transferred the language
out of subsection 10(b) and into subsection
10(c) in order to apply the substantive
notice and comment requirements to the
entirety of section 10, Congress inadver-
tently retained the ‘‘each application’’ lan-
guage that was tailored to subsection
10(b), according to the FWS. The FWS
points out that in the original version of
the Act, subsection 10(c) referred to this
‘‘subsection’’ instead of this ‘‘section,’’ a
remnant of when its requirements were
part of subsection 10(b), demonstrating the
sloppiness with which Congress made the
transfer.  Accordingly, the FWS argues
that Congress never intended the ‘‘each
application’’ language to refer to excep-
tions under subsection 10(a), but only to
import the notice and comment provisions,
and cites to the House Report which ac-
companied the 1976 bill, which states that
Congress changed the word ‘‘subsection’’
in 10(c) to ‘‘section,’’ in order ‘‘to clarify
that notice of review of permit applications
applies to the entire section 10TTTT’’ See
H.R.Rep. No. 94–823, at 6 (1976) (House
Rep.).  Plaintiffs rejoin that this legislative
history actually favors their interpretation.
By moving the ‘‘each application’’ language
from subsection 10(b) and making it apply
to exceptions under either subsections
10(a) or 10(b), plaintiffs argue, Congress
evinced an intent to have the application
process apply to all of section 10.  Plain-
tiffs’ argument is well-taken.
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The court reads the statement that ‘‘the
notice of review of permit applications ap-
plies to the entire section 10’’ to be just
that—a Congressional intent that applica-
tions be required to obtain an exception
under any part of section 10.  See id.  If
Congress intended to apply subsection
10(c) to exceptions under paragraph
10(a)(1)(A) without an application, it could
have done so by stating that the Secretary
shall publish notice of (1) each application
for an exemption or permit or (2) any act
that she proposes to permit.  Instead of
reading sloppiness into Congress’s changes
to the statutory language, the court be-
lieves it is more appropriate to interpret
Congress’s decision to apply the require-
ments of subsection 10(c) to all of section
10 to evince an intent that exceptions un-
der any section 10 provision would proceed
through notice and comment on an applica-
tion.  Because the court concludes that the
text, context, purpose and history of sec-
tion 10 show a clear Congressional intent
that permits must be considered on a case-
by-case basis, the court grants summary
judgment to plaintiffs with respect to their
claim that the FWS violated subsection
10(c) when it promulgated the Rule.

III. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the court
concludes that plaintiffs should be granted
summary judgment on their claim under
subsection 10(c) of the Act and defendants
should be granted summary judgment on
the remainder of plaintiffs’ claims.  An
appropriate order accompanies this memo-
randum opinion.
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Background:  Defendant was convicted by
jury in the United States District Court
for the District of Columbia of wire fraud
and conspiracy to make false statements to
financial institutions to obtain mortgage
loans. Defendant appealed. The Court of
Appeals, 524 F.3d 259, affirmed. Defen-
dant filed motion to vacate.

Holdings:  The District Court, Ellen Segal
Huvelle, J., held that:

(1) government neither alleged nor was
required to prove that every lender
defrauded by defendant was insured
by Federal Deposit Insurance Corpo-
ration (FDIC);

(2) defendant could not relitigate claims
that were raised and rejected on direct
appeal;

(3) defendant was not prejudiced by coun-
sel’s alleged ineffective assistance; and

(4) to the extent that they were not raised
on direct appeal, defendant’s claims al-
leging denial of due process and prose-
cutorial misconduct were procedurally
defaulted.

Motion denied.

1. Conspiracy O32
To obtain conviction for conspiracy to

make false statements to financial institu-
tions to obtain mortgage loans, govern-
ment neither alleged nor was required to


